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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

FEDERAL ENERGY REGULATORY COMMISSION 
 
 
Before Commissioners:  Joseph T. Kelliher, Chairman; 
                                        Suedeen G. Kelly, Marc Spitzer, 
                                        Philip D. Moeller, and Jon Wellinghoff. 
 
   
In re Gexa Energy, L.L.C.       Docket No. IN07-31-000 
 
 

ORDER APPROVING STIPULATION AND CONSENT AGREEMENT 
 

(Issued August 21, 2007) 
 

1. The Commission approves the attached Stipulation and Consent Agreement 
(Agreement) between the Office of Enforcement (Enforcement) and Gexa Energy, 
L.L.C., a Massachusetts limited liability company (Gexa).  This order is in the public 
interest because it resolves all issues relating to a non-public, preliminary investigation 
conducted by Enforcement, pursuant to Part 1b of the Commission’s regulations,           
18 C.F.R. Part 1b (2006).  The matters investigated included violations of               
sections 203(a)1 and 2052 of the Federal Power Act (FPA), and the Commission’s 
regulations.  This Agreement resolves the investigation through a settlement that provides 
for:  (1) Gexa’s payment of a $500,000 civil penalty; and (2) Gexa’s disgorgement of 
$12,481.41 in profits, with interest.   

Background 

2. Gexa is a competitive retail electricity service provider operating in the ISO New 
England, Inc. (ISO-NE) market.  Gexa currently serves approximately 17 MW of load to 
residential and industrial customers in Maine and Massachusetts.  Gexa owns no 
generation.   

3. FPL Energy, LLC (FPLE), a wholly owned subsidiary of the FPL Group, Inc. 
(FPL Group), has subsidiaries that make wholesale sales in interstate commerce and 
currently provide or have under construction approximately 14,000 net MW of electric 
generation capacity in 25 states.  FPLE does not own, operate, or control any 
                                              

1 16 U.S.C. § 824b. 
2 16 U.S.C. § 824d. 
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transmission facilities other than the interconnection facilities necessary to reliably 
connect its subsidiaries’ generating facilities to the transmission grid.  FPLE acquired 
Gexa in June 2005.   

4. In February 2006, FPLE first became aware that Gexa had market-based rate 
(MBR) authority for wholesale sales in interstate commerce3 and that Gexa should have 
filed for merger authorization under section 203(a) of the FPA prior to its acquisition by 
FPLE.4  Consequently, FPLE initiated an internal investigation to determine the extent of 
the irregularities.  FPLE learned, among other things, that Gexa had falsely represented to 
FPLE that it was not subject to regulation under the FPA; and did not disclose to FPLE or 
the Commission that it had already commenced FERC-jurisdictional sales.  In addition, 
Gexa had provided FPLE with an opinion letter from Gexa’s regulatory counsel stating, 
albeit incorrectly, that Gexa was not subject to FPA regulation. 

5. On February 22, 2006, FPLE self-reported to Enforcement that its subsidiary, 
Gexa, violated various provisions of the FPA and the Commission’s regulations.  
Enforcement conducted a preliminary investigation and reviewed Gexa’s actions over a 
two-year period confirming the facts and violations set forth below. 

Summary of Violations 
 
6. Gexa violated FPA section 203(a), which required prior Commission approval of 
Gexa’s June 17, 2005 disposition of its jurisdictional facilities to FPLE.  Because Gexa 
obtained MBR authority in May 2005 and thus owned jurisdictional facilities consisting 
of a market-based rate schedule and books and records enabling it to engage in sales for 
resale in interstate commerce, it became a public utility subject to the Commission’s 
jurisdiction under the FPA and, pursuant to FPA section 203(a), was required to seek 
Commission approval prior to its disposition of the facilities to FPLE.  Accordingly, 
Gexa's failure to submit its FPA section 203(a) filing resulted in a violation of FPA 
section 203(a) that was continuing in nature.  Gexa and FPLE submitted an application 
under FPA section 203(a) on June 20, 2007, in Docket No. EC07-109-000. 

7. Gexa violated FPA section 205 by entering into a series of unauthorized wholesale 
balancing transactions to sell excess generation in interstate commerce into the ISO-NE’s 
hourly or day ahead market.  On March 1, 2005, Gexa commenced making such sales 
without MBR authority.  Gexa did not seek MBR authority from the Commission until 

                                              
3 Gexa Energy, LLC, Docket No. ER05-714-000, et al. (unpublished letter order 

granting Gexa market-based rate authority issued May 18, 2005 (MBR Order)). 
4 The Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of March 28, 2005, was among 

FPL Group, Inc., FRM Holdings, LLC, WPRM Acquisition Subsidiary, Inc., and Gexa’s 
parent, Gexa Corporation (Merger Agreement).   
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March 21, 2005, three weeks after it commenced such sales.  At the time Gexa submitted 
its application, it did not disclose to the Commission that it had already commenced 
making wholesale sales into the ISO-NE market, nor did Gexa disclose that it would 
continue making such sales during the pendency of its MBR application.  By the time the 
Commission granted Gexa’s MBR request making Gexa’s MBR tariff effective on       
May 18, 2005, Gexa had already earned profits of $12,498.41 related to the unauthorized 
MBR balancing sales.  

8. Gexa violated the Commission’s May 18, 2005 MBR Order which specifically 
directed Gexa to: (1) “timely report to the Commission any change in status that would 
reflect a departure from the characteristics the Commission relied upon in granting 
market-based rate authority, consistent with Order No. 652;” and (2) revise its tariff 
within 30 days of issuance to reflect the requirement that Gexa file a change in status 
notice if a change in affiliation or corporate status occurred.  Gexa did not comply with 
this directive until it submitted its revised MBR tariff and Code of Conduct on         
February 27, 2006, following its self-report. 
 
9. Gexa violated section 35.10(b) of the Commission’s regulations5 and the 
Commission’s MBR Order by failing to timely file Electric Quarterly Reports (EQRs) 
with the Commission for its MBR sales commencing March 1, 2005, until February 
2006.  The Commission’s MBR Order specifically directed Gexa to begin making timely 
EQR filings no later than 30 days after the first quarter in which Gexa’s rate schedule 
became effective, which was July 31, 2005.  Gexa later submitted all of its delinquent 
EQR filings on February 28, 2006, subsequent to its self-report.  
 
10. Gexa’s violations did not result in a preference or undue discrimination and 
resulted in no harm to competitors or customers.  Nonetheless, these violations resulted in 
harm to the integrity of the regulatory process, as good faith compliance with statutes and 
Commission orders is of vital importance to the administration of the Commission’s 
duties under the FPA.  

Stipulation and Consent Agreement 

11. Enforcement, Gexa and FPLE have entered into the attached Agreement to resolve 
Enforcement’s investigation of FPLE’s self-report.  The Agreement, inter alia, requires 
Gexa to pay a $500,000 civil penalty and to disgorge $12,481.41 with interest. 

12. On June 20, 2007, in Docket No. EC07-109-000, Gexa and FPLE jointly 
submitted an application pursuant to FPA section 203(a) requesting authorization for the 
upstream transfer to FPLE of Gexa’s jurisdictional facilities, (including Gexa’s MBR 

                                              
5 18 C.F.R. § 35.10(b) (2006). 
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tariff and related books and records), pursuant to FPLE’s June 17, 2005 purchase of one 
hundred percent of the equity of Gexa’s parent company, Gexa Corporation.6  

Determination of the Appropriate Remedy 

13. The Commission may impose civil penalties of up to $1 million per violation 
pursuant to section 316A of the FPA as amended by the Energy Policy Act of 2005.  7

Because of the continuing nature of the violations, the violations in this case occurred 
after August 8, 2005, the effective date of the Commission’s civil penalty authority.  

14. In approving the Agreement and the $500,000 civil penalty, we considered the 
factors set forth in the FPA8 and our Policy Statement on Enforcement.9  We have 
accorded great weight to the fact that Gexa’s new owner, FPLE, promptly investigated 
and self-reported these violations when it became aware of them, and that FPLE replaced 
Gexa’s senior management involved in the violations.  Moreover, FPLE implemented 
new procedures to prevent reoccurrence of such violations and self-imposed a six-month 
moratorium on making MBR sales.  Absent the self-report and these remedial measures, 
the civil penalty would have been substantially higher.  

15. We also note that there was no harm to the market or to market participants from 
Gexa’s violations discussed here.  

16. In light of the facts and circumstances, the Commission concludes that the civil 
penalty and the disgorgement agreed upon are appropriate and provide a fair and 
equitable resolution of these matters and are in the public interest. 
 

                                              
6 Contemporaneous with the issuance of this order, the Commission is also issuing 

an order in Docket No. EC07-109-000 approving Gexa’s and FPLE’s application on a 
going forward basis. 

7 Section 1284(e) of the Energy Policy Act of 2005 amended section 316A(b) of 
the FPA, 16 U.S.C. § 825o-1(b), to grant the Commission authority to assess a civil 
penalty of not more $1,000,000 for each day that a violation of any provision of Part II of 
the FPA or any provision of any rule or order there under continues. 

8 Section 316A(b) of the FPA, 16 U.S.C. § 8250-1(b). 
9 Enforcement of Statutes, Orders, Rules, and Regulations, 113 FERC ¶ 61,068 

(2006). 
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The Commission orders: 
 
 The attached Agreement is hereby approved without modification. 
 
By the Commission. 
 
( S E A L )        
        
 
 
 
                                                          Nathaniel J. Davis, Sr., 
                                                     Acting Deputy Secretary. 
 


















